THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-28-00680  
Appellate Case No. 2022-001789

RECEIVED

FEB 20 2024

SC Court of Appeals

Randy Bowers, ..... Appellant,

v.

The Estate of Claude E. Campbell by and through Sonja Campbell Parker and  
Barry Campbell, Thomas Clayter Campbell, The Estate of Colbert Harold  
Campbell by and through Francis Campbell, Vivian C. Gardner and the Estate of  
Charles E. Campbell by and through Maxine Watts Campbell, individually and as  
representatives, ..... Respondents.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of a directed verdict granted by the trial court in favor of the Respondents after the Appellant's case in chief. Appellant filed his Summons and Complaint with the Court of Common Pleas for the 28<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit in Kershaw County, South Carolina, on June 28, 2019. (Complaint). Respondents filed a motion to dismiss on July 26, 2019. The court entered a Form 4 Order denying the motion on September 25, 2019. Thereafter, Appellant filed an Amended Summons and Complaint on October 21, 2019. (Amended Summons and Complaint). Respondents filed their Answer on November 14, 2019. (Answer). That answer was later amended on March 20, 2020 by Respondents. (Amended Answer). Appellant then moved on July 21, 2020 for an order permitting the DNA transmittal and testing of Willie C. Campbell (Motion for DNA Test), which was granted by the trial court on the same day. (Order Granting DNA Test). Respondents then filed their first motion for summary judgment on the grounds that Appellant's claims were time barred and not within the jurisdiction of the court on September 3, 2020. Appellant filed a motion to amend his Complaint on October 7, 2020. (Motion to Amend). A hearing on both the motion for summary judgment and motion to amend was had on October 12, 2020. The court entered an order denying Respondents' motion for summary judgment and granting Appellant's motion to amend on October 14, 2020. Appellant then filed his Second Amended Complaint on November 10, 2020. (Second Amended Complaint). The Appellant's Second Amended Complaint sought civil redress in the form of compensatory damages, punitive damages, and a constructive trust based upon fraud, negligent misrepresentation, and negligence. Respondents filed their Answer to Appellant's Second Amended Complaint on December 2, 2020. Respondents then filed their second motion for summary judgment on the grounds that the claims of Appellant lacked sufficient evidence on April 30, 2021. Appellants filed their

memorandum in opposition and supporting documents on May 21, 2021. (Memorandum in Opposition with Supporting Documents). Almost a year after ruling in Respondents' favor at the hearing on Respondents' second motion for summary judgment, the trial court entered an order denying this second motion for summary judgment on April 22, 2022. (Order Denying Second Motion for Summary Judgment).

On November 15, 2022, the matter came up for trial and a jury was impaneled. The Honorable Debra R. McCaslin presided. At the conclusion of Appellant's case, Respondents moved for a directed verdict on the ground that Appellant had failed to present any evidence supporting his claims and that his claims were time barred. Over Appellant's strenuous objection, the Court granted Respondents' Motion for a Directed Verdict.

The Court entered judgment by way of a Form 4 Judgment dated November 21, 2022. (First Form Order). Appellant moved to have the Court reconsider the order and grant a new trial on November 22, 2022. (Motion to Reconsider). The Court, again by way of a Form 4 Judgment, denied the motion on November 29, 2022. (Second Form Order) On December 21, 2022, Appellant duly filed his Notice of Appeal from the Judgment in a Civil Case and served a copy on Respondents' counsel.

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Whether the trial court erroneously held that the Appellant's claims were time barred?**
- II. Whether the Trial Court erroneously found that Appellant failed to present the genuine existence of a triable issue of fact regarding his claims?**

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

When reviewing the trial court's ruling on a motion for a directed verdict or a JNOV, this Court must apply the same standard as the trial court by viewing the evidence and all reasonable

inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Elam v. S.C. DOT*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004). The trial court must deny a motion for a directed verdict or JNOV if the evidence yields more than one reasonable inference or its inference is in doubt. *Strange v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 314 S.C. 427, 445 S.E.2d 439 (1994). Moreover, "[a] motion for JNOV may be granted only if no reasonable jury could have reached the challenged verdict." *Gastineau v. Murphy*, 331 S.C. 565, 568, 503 S.E.2d 712, 713 (1998). An appellate court will reverse the trial court's ruling only if no evidence supports the ruling below. *Welch v. Epstein*, 342 S.C. 279, 536 S.E.2d 408 (2000). In deciding such motions, neither the trial court nor the appellate court has the authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or the evidence. *Id.* at 300, 536 S.E.2d at 419.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

In 1957, T.E. Campbell ("Mr. Campbell") fathered Randy Bowers ("Randy" or "Appellant") with Tina Bowers ("Randy's Mother"). (Tr. p. 61 ¶¶ 7-19). Both were married to other individuals at the time. Mr. Campbell had five adult children with his wife at the time, Charles, Thomas Clayter, Vivian, Claude, and Colbert ("Mr. Campbell's Legitimate Children"). (Tr. p. 62 ¶¶ 8-11; p. 68 ¶¶ 18-20; pp. 69-70). From an early age Randy suspected he was the biological son of Mr. Campbell. (Tr. p. 61 ¶¶ 8-16; p. 62 ¶¶ 3-14). Many of his interactions with Mr. Campbell indicated a familial relationship, including gifts, meals, trips and special treatment. (Tr. p. 61 ¶¶ 22-24; p. 62 ¶¶ 20-25; p. 101 ¶¶ 9-17). Randy recalls at least one instance where Mr. Campbell referred to him as his son to some of his Legitimate Children. (Tr. p. 91 ¶¶ 2-7).

As might have been expected for the time, from an early age, Mr. Campbell's Legitimate Children had a strained relationship with Randy. (Tr. p. 63 ¶¶ 14-17; pp. 78-79; p. 86 ¶¶ 10-18). Sometimes the Legitimate Children would show acts of kindness to him and other times

they were cruel. (Tr. p. 78 ¶¶ 14-24; p. 82 ¶¶ 1-4 p. 85 ¶¶ 3-22; p. 86 ¶¶ 10-18; pp. 87-88; p. 90). At no time did Mr. Campbell's Legitimate Children publicly acknowledge Randy's likely parentage, even going so far as denying the existence of any relationship between Mr. Campbell and Randy's mother in court proceedings. (Tr. p. 85 ¶¶ 7-19). Not only did Mr. Campbell's Legitimate Children publicly deny any familial relationship with Randy, but would privately blame him for the ultimate divorce between Mr. Campbell and their mother. (Tr. p. 62 ¶¶ 6-14). Considering the alleged abuse between their parents, such frustration might be understandable. (Tr. pp. 68-70).

As Randy grew older, he continued to spend time with Mr. Campbell. On at least one occasion, Mr. Campbell shared his desire for Randy to be buried next to him. (Tr. p. 101 ¶¶ 18-25).

On June 12, 1982, Mr. Campbell was murdered in his home. (Tr. pp. 61 ¶ 25 – p. 62 ¶¶ 1-14; p. 118 ¶¶ 2-10).

While administering the estate of Mr. Campbell, rather than honestly confront the reality of their father's infidelity and their biological sibling, Mr. Campbell's Legitimate Children continued to publicly deny any relationship with Randy and made sworn statements denying the same. (Tr. p. 80 ¶¶ 2-13; p. 96). Similarly, they avoided any discussions with Randy concerning the estate of his biological father. (Tr. p. 79 ¶¶ 15-21; p. 80 ¶¶ 2-13; p. 81 ¶¶ 8-13).

In June of 1982, the Supreme Court of South Carolina had yet to rule that the limitation in S.C. Code Ann. § 21-3-30 allowing illegitimate children to inherit only from their mothers' estates was violative of the Equal Protection Clause of the U.S. Const. amend. XIV. *See Wilson v. Jones*, 281 S.C. 230, 232, 314 S.E.2d 341, 342 (1984). While that decision would have applied retroactively as to allow Randy to inherit, that inheritance would have been contingent upon an

evidentiary showing by Randy, which at the time would not have included blood samples and certainly not a DNA test, and Randy believed would not have included supporting testimony of Mr. Campbell's Legitimate Children. (Tr. p. 102 ¶¶ 8-20). The countless public statements and treatment by his siblings reasonably left him with the belief that such a showing was impossible. (Tr. p. 86 ¶¶ 7-18).

After many years of continued mistreatment from his siblings and their families, both publicly and privately, one of the very last conversations between Randy and his brother Charles in or around December of 2017 was the acknowledgment that Randy was, in fact, known by his siblings to be their brother. (Tr. pp. 92-93; pp. 95-97). Not only did Charles make this statement to Randy, but his publicly published obituary did the same. (Tr. pp. 92-93; p. 103). It was only then that Randy understood the actions of Mr. Campbell's Legitimate Children in publicly disowning him as their sibling. It was only then that he could have realized that, under oath, his brothers and sister, in 1982, would have been obligated to testify to the same. (Tr. p. 100 ¶¶ 19-25; p. 101 ¶¶ 1-8).

Finally, after the filing of this action, Randy was able to secure DNA from a brother of Mr. Campbell, establishing that he had a 99.9999% probability of being the son of Mr. Campbell. (Tr. pp. 99-100). The acts of Mr. Campbell's Legitimate Children and their family whereby they worked together to publicly assert that Randy had no relation to them not only in public settings, but in court proceedings and filings, all the while using the inheritance to collect profit and rent that was to a degree more rightly Randy's, more than gives rise to the claims asserted at the trial court and are in no way time barred.

## ARGUMENT

Distinct from a claim against the estate of Mr. Campbell, Appellant amply presented evidence that (a) the collective efforts of his siblings and their families to (b) repeatedly and fraudulently represent that they would always believe and assert that Appellant was not their brother (c) directly led to Appellant's detrimental reliance. The Appellant was intentionally and fraudulently omitted from the filings as to the Estate of Mr. Campbell as a child of the Decedent. The Respondents had full knowledge of and/or reasonable cause to believe that the Appellant was a son of the Decedent due to their knowledge of the Decedent's social interactions and relationships, and despite that knowledge, represented to Appellant that they would not acknowledge Appellant as a son of the decedent, all so as to protect their financial interests in the estate of the Decedent. These actions, amply supported by evidence at trial, all give rise to direct claims by the Appellant not against his father's estate, but rather, against the Respondents for fraud, negligent misrepresentation, negligence, civil conspiracy and for the institution of a constructive trust. Thus, the trial court's erroneous granting of a directed verdict should be reversed.

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THE CLAIMS WERE TIME BARRED.**

The trial court not only applied the wrong standard of discovery for purposes of the statute of limitations, but also applied the wrong analysis of the facts with relation to the standard. Under the circumstances of the facts before the trial court a person of common knowledge and experience would not have been on notice of the fraudulent and conspiratorial acts of the Respondents until less than three years prior to this action being instituted. Therefore, the trial court's order granting a directed verdict should be reversed.

South Carolina law holds that claims for fraud and negligent misrepresentation are subject to the three-year statute of limitations period provided in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530. *See Moore v. Benson*, 390 S.C. 153, 160, 700 S.E.2d 273, 277 (2010) (holding an action for fraud was governed by the three-year statute of limitations period); *Walbeck v. I'On Co.*, 426 S.C. 494, 519, 827 S.E.2d 348, 361 (2018), petition for cert. filed (S.C. June 21, 2019) (noting the three-year statute of limitations applies to negligent misrepresentation claims under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(5) (2005)). "The three-year statute of limitations 'begins to run when the underlying cause of action reasonably ought to have been discovered.'" *Holly Woods Ass'n of Residence Owners v. Hiller*, 392 S.C. 172, 183, 708 S.E.2d 787, 793 (2011) (quoting *Martin v. Companion Healthcare Corp.*, 357 S.C. 570, 575, 593 S.E.2d 624, 627 (2004)). Thus, the three-year clock starts ticking on the "date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct." *Bayle v. S.C. DOT*, 344 S.C. 115, 123, 542 S.E.2d 736, 740 (2001). This determination is objective, rather than subjective. *Id.* As such, the question is not whether the particular plaintiff in this case actually knew she had a claim. Instead, we approach this inquiry by deciding "whether the circumstances of the case would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded, or that some claim against another party might exist." *Young v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 333 S.C. 714, 719, 511 S.E.2d 413, 416 (1999).

Further, the burden of establishing the bar of the statute of limitations rests upon the one interposing it, and if there is a conflict upon the question, it becomes an issue for the jury to decide. *Brown v. Finger*, 240 S.C. 102, 124 S.E.2d 781 (1962). As stated in *Logan v. Cherokee Landscaping & Grading Co.*, 389 S.C. 611, 618, 698 S.E.2d 879, 883 (2010), if there is conflicting evidence as to whether a claimant knew or should have known he or she had a cause

of action, the question is one for the jury.”); *Arant v. Kressler*, 327 S.C. 225, 229, 489 S.E.2d 206, 208 (1997) (“When there is conflicting testimony regarding the time of discovery, it becomes an issue for the jury to decide.”); *Johnston v. Bowen*, 313 S.C. 61, 64, 437 S.E.2d 45, 47 (1993) (“Whether a claimant knew or should have known that they had a cause of action is question for the jury.”).

In ruling the Appellant’s claims were time-barred, the trial court held that the Appellant knew all of the facts concerning the alleged fraud and misrepresentations in 1982 when his father was murdered. Such an understanding could not be further from the case. The Appellant has alleged and presented evidence that, while the collective efforts of his siblings and their families to repeatedly and fraudulently represent that their belief that Appellant was not their brother began earlier than the death of his father, it was precisely at the time of his father’s death that these false representations began to have an effect. The trial court relied almost entirely on the testimony that Appellant presented that he firmly believed he was the child of Mr. Campbell as early as his childhood. This reliance is entirely misplaced. Again, in 1982, Appellant was faced with the belief that his biological father just passed, a statute that precluded him from raising any right to an inheritance, a burden of proof to any claim regardless of the statute that would be reasonably considered insurmountable without the supporting testimony of the Respondents. It was this understanding, the inability to procure their public acknowledgement of his familial relationship, that was relied upon and ultimately harmed him. Thus, the correct question before the court should have not been, when did Appellant believe he was an heir, but rather, whether the circumstances of the case (the then enforceable probate code, the relationship between Appellant and the Respondents, and the public and private statements of Respondents) would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some claim against Respondents

for these fraudulent acts might exist. It was precisely this analysis that leads to the consideration of the public statement in the obituary by one of the Respondents that would provide the most likely date to tie a person of common knowledge and experience to be on notice that the Respondents had conspired to mislead the Appellant concerning their actual belief as to his claim to an inheritance. Thus, the trial court's grant of a directed verdict should be reversed.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY RULED APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESENT A GENUINE ISSUE OF ANY MATERIAL FACT REGARDING HIS CLAIMS AGAINST THE RESPONDENTS**

The facts presented at the trial court presented more than ample evidence to support the Appellant's claims for fraud, negligent misrepresentation, negligence, and civil conspiracy. Similarly, the facts presented provided ample evidence to support a finding of a constructive trust. The trial court erroneously ruled that such evidence was insufficient and such ruling should be reversed by this Court.

### **A. Appellant Presented Ample Evidence to Support His Action for Fraud**

In directing the verdict for the Respondents, the trial court erred in misplaced the alleged fraud being presented by Appellant and supported by the evidence. The Appellant properly presented ample evidence that Mr. Campbell's Legitimate Children and their relatives represented to Randy that they, in fact, knew or strongly believed that Randy was not the child of Mr. Campbell or that they would be willing to publicly state the same. This fraud directly harmed Appellant as was properly presented at trial. Thus, this Court should overturn the directed verdict erroneously granted by the trial court.

The fraud of Mr. Campbell's Legitimate Children and their relatives was presented by ample evidence at trial.

To establish a cause of action for fraud, the following elements must be proven by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence: (1) a representation of fact; (2) its falsity; (3) its materiality; (4) either knowledge of its falsity or a reckless disregard of its

truth or falsity; (5) intent that the representation be acted upon; (6) the hearer's ignorance of its falsity; (7) the hearer's reliance on its truth; (8) the hearer's right to rely thereon; and (9) the hearer's consequent and proximate injury.

*Schnellmann v. Roettger*, 373 S.C. 379, 382, 645 S.E.2d 239, 241 (2007) (citing *M.B. Kahn Constr. Co. v. S.C. Nat'l Bank*, 275 S.C. 381, 271 S.E.2d 414 (1980)). All of these elements were met in the Appellant's case in chief. First, Mr. Campbell's Legitimate Children and their relatives made several significant false public statements before Appellant, namely that he was not only not their sibling, but that they firmly knew such to be the case. Contrary to the ruling of the trial court, the Appellant did not reply upon the misrepresentation that his was not Mr. Campbell's son. He testified repeatedly and consistently to being under that belief. Rather, it was the fraudulent representations of the Respondents regarding their firmly held belief that led the Appellant to reasonably believe any action regarding the inheritance from his father was futile.

Second, they knowingly made these representations with the intent that Appellant not act in any way towards the inheritance upon his belief that he was, in fact, their sibling. Appellant testified that he relied upon such statements in refraining to take actions that would have resulted in the Respondents' fraud being disclosed and the inheritance being shared with him. Regardless, and perhaps because of, any discussions with attorneys in 1982, it would have been reasonable to rely upon such statements in understanding the futility of asserting any claim to the inheritance. Thus, all of the elements for fraud were presented at trial through ample evidence.

#### **B. Appellant Presented Ample Evidence to Support His Action for Negligent Misrepresentation and Negligence**

Similarly, the trial court erred in granting a directed verdict to the Respondents as to Appellant's action for negligent misrepresentation. To establish liability for negligent misrepresentation, the plaintiff must show by a preponderance of the evidence: (1) the defendant made a false representation to the plaintiff; (2) the defendant had a pecuniary interest in making

the representation; (3) the defendant owed a duty of care to see that he communicated truthful information to the plaintiff; (4) the defendant breached that duty by failing to exercise due care; (5) the plaintiff justifiably relied on the representation; and (6) the plaintiff suffered a pecuniary loss as the proximate result of his reliance on the representation. *Turner v. Milliman*, 392 S.C. 116, 123, 708 S.E.2d 766, 769 (2011) (citing *Quail Hill, L.L.C. v. Cnty. of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 240, 692 S.E.2d 499, 508 (2010)). Under South Carolina law, the duty to disclose may be reduced to three distinct classes:

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