THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-28-00680
Appellate Case No. 2022-001789

Randy BowersAppellant,

v.

The Estate of Claude E. Campbell by and through Sonja Campbell
Parker and Barry Campbell, Thomas Clayter Campbell, The Estate
of Colbert Harold Campbell by and through Francis Campbell,
Vivian C. Gardner and the Estate of Charles E. Campbell by and
through Maxine Watts Campbell, all individually and as representatives..... Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

J. Paul Porter, Esquire (#100723)
Harper L. Hutson, Esquire (#106343)
Cromer Babb & Porter, LLC

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

...

The plaintiff knew all the information he needed in 1984 or ’82 when his father passed away. He testified also that that he’s known his biological father for practically his

³ The testimony Appellant’s Counsel cites to for this proposition does not reflect what counsel suggests. (Appellant Brief p. 5) (*misstating*, Day 1 Transcript p. 100:19-101:8).

⁴ Appellant testified that another witness, not related to him or the Campbell family, Harold Goff told him in 2015 (greater than three years before this lawsuit was filed) that he was aware he was T.E. Campbell’s son.

entire life and he learned again of his father's death the day it happened. And then the Court takes note also that when Mr. [T].E. Campbell passed away, the plaintiff was 25 years old, college educated. He should have known or should have known to file a cause of action then.

The claim of the 2017 obituary he claims should start the clock. The Court doesn't see it that way. That didn't reveal any new information. None. You know, it was portrayed to the Court that that was more of the strength of their case, but it hadn't changed any facts. He already knew it. He already knew it.

(Trial Transcript Day 3: pp. 6:10-7:11). The statute of limitations on Appellant's tort claims ran during the Reagan Administration. This action was properly dismissed as a matter of law.

II. THE TRIAL JUDGE RIGHTLY FOUND THAT THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE UPON WHICH APPELLANT COULD STATE ANY OF HIS CLAIMS.

The Trial Court found that, aside from its ruling that the statute of limitations had run, there were independent reasons of law and/or lack of evidence upon which Appellant's five causes of action failed.

A. The trial court correctly ruled that Appellant's fraud claim failed as a matter of law.

Fraud has nine elements: (1) a representation; (2) its falsity; (3) its materiality; (4) either knowledge of its falsity or a reckless disregard of its truth or falsity; (5) intent that the representation be acted upon; (6) the hearer's ignorance of its falsity; (7) the hearer's reliance on its truth; (8) the hearer's right to rely thereon; and (9) the hearer's consequent and proximate injury. *Ardis v. Cox*, 314 S.C. 512, 515, 431 S.E.2d 267, 269 (Ct. App. 1993). Fraud is not presumed, but must be shown by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence. *Ardis v. Cox*, 314 S.C. 512, 515, 431 S.E.2d 267, 269 (Ct. App. 1993).

There is no evidence of any representation made by Respondents to the Appellant. Much less a false representation that the Appellant relied on and was harmed by. Appellant was asked if Respondents did anything to cause him to be excluded from T.E. Campbell's estate and he testified, with the exception of Claude Campbell, that they "did not." (Day 1 Transcript pp. 128:10-12; 129:2-

14, 19-24; 130:4-11). On Claude Campbell (who had been deceased for 4 + years by the time this lawsuit was filed) Appellant said he knew Appellant “was his brother” because “[h]e told a bunch of people that.” (Day 1 Transcript p. 130:12-21). That unspecific statement about the knowledge held by an individual who was deceased by the time this lawsuit was filed does not amount to the elements of fraud.

Appellant’s counsel says on brief, without citing to the record, that “Mr. Campbell’s Legitimate Children and their relatives made several significant false public statements before the Appellant, namely that he was not their sibling but that they firmly knew such to be the case.” There is nothing in the record to support this statement on brief. Further, even if it were, how could Appellant establish the sixth element of fraud, ignorance of falsity, given he testified he knew from his early childhood that he was T.E. Campbell’s son? (Trial Transcript Day 1 p. 110:19-24).

The Trial Court properly dismissed the fraud claim following a lengthy colloquy with counsel over whether developments in US Supreme Court and South Carolina case law about the ability of illegitimate children to receive from their father’s estates created a duty for the Respondents to reopen their father’s estate. (Trial Transcript Day 2 pp. 83:5-86:23). That case law is discussed in greater detail in the additional sustaining grounds below. Irrespective of that discussion of case law, which comes down in Respondents’ favor, there is no evidence in this record of fraud. Whatsoever.

B. The trial court correctly determined that Appellant’s negligent misrepresentation claim should be dismissed as a matter of law.

Appellant’s negligent misrepresentation claim fails for similar reasons as his fraud claim. Appellant had to show:

- (1) the defendant made a false representation to the plaintiff;
- (2) the defendant had a pecuniary interest in making the statement;
- (3) the defendant owed a duty of care to see that he communicated truthful information to the plaintiff;
- (4) the defendant breached that duty by failing to exercise due care;
- (5) the plaintiff justifiably relied on the representation; and
- (6) the plaintiff suffered a pecuniary loss as the proximate result of his reliance on the representation.

Quail Hill, LLC v. Cty. of Richland, 387 S.C. 223, 240, 692 S.E.2d 499, 508 (2010). There was no testimony that Appellant relied on any false statements from Respondents:

What did he rely on? What is it that these defendants told him that he relied on for a negligent misrepresentation claim? That's my problem with that claim. Just like fraud, you know, the fraud is another representation, falsity, reckless disregard of its truth, an intent that the representation is acted upon, the reliance of its truth, and the proximate injury. I do not believe, from the testimony I've heard on either one of these counts -- certainly it does not meet clear and convincing evidence on the fraud, period, and I'm going to dismiss or grant your DV motion. Negligent misrepresentation. I don't believe it meets the facts -- the elements. The facts don't meet the elements, not that what was testified. I'm dismissing that claim.

(Day 2 Transcript pp. 87:24-88:14).

Appellant argues on this claim that Respondents made a false representation to the "courts." (Appellant Brief p. 12). The first element of negligent misrepresentation requires the misrepresentation be made "to the plaintiff."⁵ *Quail Hill, LLC*, 692 S.E.2d at 508.

Setting that threshold factual problem aside, there is no legal basis asserted in Appellant's brief to say Respondents "owed a duty of care" "to the [Appellant]." *Id.*

C. The trial court correctly held that Appellant's negligence claim failed as a matter of law.

Appellant does not independently address the dismissal of his negligence claim, but instead mentions "negligence" only in the header of his negligent misrepresentation argument. (Appellant Brief p. 10). The content of that argument is solely concerned with Negligent Misrepresentation (*Id.* at pp. 10-12). Therefore, this claim is not sufficiently appealed. "An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance." *Dreher v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 412 S.C. 244, 249-50, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015); quoting, *Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743

⁵ Respondents did not make a misrepresentation to the Court. There is no competent record evidence Respondent's knew they had an illegitimate brother when their father's estate was probated and, even if they had, the sole representation to the Probate Court in the record called for a list of "heir[s] at law." Appellant was not an "heir at law" under the law in South Carolina in 1982. (Pl. Ex. 2 Probate Records).

S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013). “[U]napealed findings—whether correct or not—become the law of the case.” *Id.*

Nonetheless, the Trial Court properly dismissed the negligence claim on directed verdict; because, as a threshold matter, there is no legal basis for asserting a duty here.

“Whether the law recognizes a particular duty is an issue of law to be determined by the court.” *Ellis v. Niles*, 324 S.C. 223, 227, 479 S.E.2d 47, 49 (1996). “An affirmative legal duty exists only if created by statute, contract, relationship, status, property interest, or some other special circumstance.” *Rayfield v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 297 S.C. 95, 100, 374 S.E.2d 910, 913 (Ct. App. 1988). There was no statute, contract, relationship, or other circumstance in 1982 that gave rise to a legally cognizable duty here.

“Ordinarily, the common law imposes no duty on a person to act.” *Id.* 374 S.E.2d at 913 (Ct. App. 1988). “It follows that a person usually incurs no liability for failure to take steps to benefit others or to protect them from harm not created by his own wrongful act.” *Id.*

This is an unusual case; nonetheless courts in California have addressed the existence of a duty on facts like this and determined no duty exists. “An heir, devisee or legatee has been held to be under no duty to notify another heir, devisee or legatee of the death of the decedent, or of the probate proceedings.” *Stevens v. Torregano*, 192 Cal. App. 2d 105, 123, 13 Cal. Rptr. 604, 616–17 (Ct. App. 1961). “[I]n cases where the *identity and existence* of a *potential* heir is unknown, the law is also clear that the petitioner need not give notice—though that rule is pretty obvious if one thinks about it.” *Est. of Carter*, 111 Cal. App. 4th 1139, 1149, 4 Cal. Rptr. 3d 490, 498 (2003), *as modified on denial of reb’g* (Oct. 3, 2003); *citing, Lynch v. Rooney* 112 Cal. 279, 44 P. 565(1896) (daughter of sister of intestate decedent mistakenly thought in good faith that decedent’s brother in Ireland was already dead).

The court granted a directed verdict on Appellant’s negligence claim because no duty exists here; her ruling was correct:

You know, there's always a fiduciary duty of a PR. I don't find any duty that the people that are sitting in front of me had in 1982 to fill out any form for him. He had knowledge. Or to mail out any notice. It seems like notice was a big thing. He was on notice when he knew his biological father passed away and he knew it on the day that he passed. And in negligence you've got to have a duty and I don't see it.

(Trial Transcript Day 3 p. 4:19-5:1).

D. The trial court correctly ruled that Appellant's civil conspiracy claim should be dismissed as a matter of law.

The elements of civil conspiracy are misstated in Appellant's brief. The elements of civil conspiracy changed shortly before the trial of this case with the Court's decision in *Paradis v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 433 S.C. 562, 861 S.E.2d 774 (2021). Now, a party asserting a civil conspiracy claim must establish (1) the combination or agreement of two or more persons, (2) to commit an unlawful act or a lawful act by unlawful means, (3) together with the commission of an overt act in furtherance of the agreement, and (4) damages proximately resulting to the plaintiff. *Paradis*, 861 S.E.2d at 780.

Appellant's counsel, without citing to the record, writes that there are "previously discussed facts concerning the action of Respondents to work together to prevent the Appellant from seeking redress concerning the inheritance." (Appellant Brief p. 13). There is no evidence in the record to support that statement made on brief. Further that statement is different from what Appellant's trial counsel argued, he claimed there was a "conspiracy of silence to just basically hope that enough time passes that he'll just go away." (Trial Transcript Day 2 p. 91:25-92:2). Appellant cannot establish the first three elements of a Civil Conspiracy with a "conspiracy of silence." The tort's first three elements require: (1) a combination of two or more, (2) to do something illegal or unlawfully, (3) through an overt act. Indeed, on the third element (overt act,) Appellant's counsel conceded at trial that the basis of the conspiracy claim is inaction: saying "None of them acted." (Day 2 Transcript 93:4).

There is no such thing as a "conspiracy of silence" under South Carolina law and inaction is not a basis upon which a conspiracy can be based. *See, Lee v. Chesterfield Gen. Hosp., Inc.*, 289 S.C. 6, 10–11, 344 S.E.2d 379, 382 (Ct. App. 1986), *overruled on other grounds by Paradis*, 861 S.E.2d 774 (2021).

(“The gravamen of the tort is the damage resulting to the plaintiff **from an overt act** done pursuant to the combination, not the agreement or combination per se.”) (emphasis added). The Trial Court’s dismissal of this claim on directed verdict should be affirmed.

E. The trial court correctly held that Appellant was not entitled to a constructive trust.

Appellant added an equitable claim for constructive trust in his Second Amended Complaint, claiming that by virtue of the other four causes of actions, Respondents obtained property that did not equitably belong to them. The law of constructive trust is:

A constructive trust will arise whenever the circumstances under which property was acquired make it inequitable that it should be retained by the one holding the legal title. *Wolfe v. Wolfe*, 215 S.C. 530, 56 S.E.2d 343 (1949); *Dominick v. Rhodes*, 202 S.C. 139, 24 S.E.2d 168 (1943); *Bank of Williston v. Alderman*, 106 S.C. 386, 91 S.E. 296 (1917). **Constructive trust results from fraud, bad faith, abuse of confidence, or violation of a fiduciary duty which gives rise to an obligation in equity to make restitution.** *Searson v. Webb*, 208 S.C. 453, 38 S.E.2d 654 (1946). Fraud is an essential element, although it need not be actual fraud.

Lollis v. Lollis, 291 S.C. 525, 529, 354 S.E.2d 559, 561 (1987). There is absolutely no evidence of “fraud, bad faith, abuse of confidence, or a violation of a fiduciary duty” by any of the Respondents on this record.

A constructive trust requires a finding that Respondents engaged in wrongdoing. The trial court, properly weighing the equities, was unable to make such a finding on this record.

The Court further opined on the inequitable ramifications a constructive trust in this case would have:

. . . But a constructive trust, he wants part of the land that these children inherited. Well, some of these children are dead. They have built homes on it. They have improved the land. That is not – the reason we have probate and we close it is so that it is over. It is final. And you can’t expect these children to give up their land that they’ve built their homes on and improved it. That’s not what the law is. It even states in the *Warren* case that when a case is closed in probate, you know, you rely on your inheritance and you don’t want to rely on it to your detriment, that somebody’s gonna come back 40 years later and take your property. That’s exactly what *Warren* said. The court does not allow that.

(Trial Transcript Day 3 p. 7:16-8:5). In this regard, the Trial Court appears to have also correctly held that Appellant’s constructive trust claim was barred by the doctrine of laches. Laches is defined as “neglect for an unreasonable and unexplained length of time, under circumstances affording opportunity for diligence, to do what in law should have been done.” *Hallums v. Hallums*, 296 S.C. 195, 198, 371 S.E.2d 525, 527 (1988). “Under the doctrine of laches, if a party, knowing his rights, does not seasonably assert them, but by unreasonable delay causes his adversary to incur expenses or enter into obligations or otherwise detrimentally change his position, then equity will ordinarily refuse to enforce those rights.” *Chambers of S.C., Inc. v. County Council for Lee Cty.*, 315 S.C. 418, 421, 434 S.E.2d 279, 280 (1993). Thus, the predicate for laches is an unreasonable and unexplained delay. *Eldridge v. Eldridge*, 398 S.C. 113, 121–22, 728 S.E.2d 24, 28 (2012). The Court correctly ruled that even Appellant’s equitable claim was untimely:

So the constructive trust, and I think I’ve stated that earlier in the case, I’ll let the lawyers know that I will address that issue, but I’m certainly not inclined to entertain it and I’m not gonna entertain it here. You can’t stick your head in the sand and wait 40 years later to build your case and then come in and sue and it’s almost a way of getting around the probate rules. That’s why I went back to go look at the Probate Court cases in making my decision. It should have been done then. It can’t be done 40 years later. This property has passed not only to the children but I’m told some of the grandchildren. No. So, with all that said, I think I’ve addressed all the claims. I’m dismissing this case.

(Day 3 Transcript p. 8:6-19).

III. ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUNDS EXIST FOR THE COURT TO AFFIRM THE LOWER COURT’S RULING.

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